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A. INTRODUCTION 

In the dead of night on March 23, 2019, Silvano Ruiz-

Perez died of a shotgun blast in a field along a secluded road on 

the edge of Auburn, Washington.  Evidence established that 

Abbas Zghair drove Ruiz-Perez and another man far out of the 

way to that lonely place and remained for only six minutes.  

The shooting left birdshot and Ruiz-Perez’s blood in Zghair’s 

back seat, and Zghair sped away immediately, leaving behind 

no gun.  After the shooting, Zghair altered and abandoned his 

car, pawned his cellphone, altered his appearance, tried to enter 

Canada with false identification, ran from border officials, then 

lied about driving his car and being at the crime scene but 

revealed knowledge of the victim and how he died.  A jury 

instructed on accomplice liability weighed all this evidence 

together and found beyond a reasonable doubt that Zghair was 

guilty of second-degree felony murder. 

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals reversed, concluding 

there was no evidence that Zghair was anything but a mere 
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presence at Ruiz-Perez’s death.  The lower court’s analysis 

disregarded the proper standard of review in a sufficiency 

claim, wherein all the evidence is viewed in totality and most 

strongly in the State’s favor, not reweighed or discounted.  The 

opinion reveals contempt for the principle of “pyramiding 

inferences” in a circumstantial case, and a misunderstanding of 

accomplice liability.  The lower court’s conclusions do not 

logically follow if the evidence as a whole is considered with 

all the reasonable inferences drawn in the State’s favor.  Twelve 

people chosen from the community at random likely drew such 

reasonable inferences. 

This Court should review this case to preserve its 

bedrock standards for sufficiency-of-the-evidence review, the 

preeminence of a jury in a criminal trial, and the standards for 

assessing circumstantial evidence and accomplice liability. 

B. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The State of Washington, Petitioner here and Respondent 

below, respectfully requests this Court review the unpublished 



 
 
2402-5 Zghair SupCt 

- 3 - 

opinion of the Court of Appeals in State v. Zghair, No. 83489-

4-I (November 6, 2023) (Appendix). 

C. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE 
GRANTED 

 
1.  Should this Court grant review to correct the Court of 

Appeals’ misapplication of this Court’s well-established 

standards for sufficiency-of-the-evidence review? 

2.  Should this Court grant review to correct the Court of 

Appeals’ misapplication of standards of accomplice liability 

and for evaluating circumstantial evidence? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The facts and evidence in this case are discussed in detail 

in the State’s briefing below, which is incorporated by reference 

here.  This recitation is amended for brevity. 

About 4 a.m. on March 23, 2019, Silvano Ruiz-Perez was 

shotgunned alongside an empty side road in Auburn; he fled 

into a field and bled to death.  RP 1115, 1119-21, 1161, 1300-

10, 1333-34, 1460-63, 1919-31, 2051-53.  On the same road, a 
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homeless couple were in their car.  RP 1436-39, 1459.  

Maryanne Denton heard two gunshots, arguing and saw 

headlights.  RP 1440-45, 1464, 2149.  Her husband heard two 

people fighting and saw a white, mid-size sedan and silhouettes 

of people arguing.  RP 1464-67, 1476-78.  The car sped away 

after five minutes.  RP 1115, 1440-46, 1465. 

A passerby discovered Ruiz-Perez’s body; a blood trail 

led back to the road, where Ruiz-Perez’s necklace was found, 

broken as if from a struggle.  RP 1114-20, 1297, 1335.  No gun, 

or other evidence of a shooting, or Ruiz-Perez’s cellphone, was 

at the scene.  RP 1518, 2068. 

The night of his death, Ruiz-Perez drank at a restaurant in 

Kent until about 11 p.m.  RP 1345-61, 2074-77.  About 1 a.m., 

Ruiz-Perez withdrew money from an ATM in Kent.  RP 2118-

20.  Video showed him exiting the rear, driver’s-side seat of a 

white, Pontiac sedan.  RP 2118-19. 

Cellphone records showed that from 2 to 2:41 a.m., Ruiz-

Perez called his fiancée and others, apparently for a ride.  RP 
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1338-39, 2079, 2085-89.  From 3 to 4 a.m., Ruiz-Perez traveled 

around Kent but then at about 4 a.m. went south and east to the 

field.  RP 2089-94.  His phone then traveled away from the 

scene and was in Kent after sunup.  RP 2092, 2112, 2445. 

Video captured a white Pontiac sedan turning onto the 

street of the murder scene at about 4:09 a.m., then departing 

about six minutes later, matching Ruiz-Perez’s phone location.  

RP 2095-2103.  Video in Kent, matching Ruiz-Perez’s location 

at 3:25 a.m., showed two men exiting a similar white car.  RP 

1956-59, 2108-10.  The driver was later confirmed as Zghair; 

the passenger, in a red sweatshirt, remains unknown.  RP 1959, 

2105-11, 2323, 2355. 

Video from after sunup at the then-location of Ruiz-

Perez’s phone, showed the Pontiac and its distinctive features, 

including a large sticker above the windshield and the front 

license plate on the dashboard.  RP 2112-17; Ex. 68.  Ruiz-

Perez’s phone was traced to a five-acre bramble in a residential 

neighborhood but not recovered.  RP 2122-23. 
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On April 9, a sheriff’s deputy found the distinctive car 

parallel-parked along a dead-end street in Covington.  RP 2114-

16; Ex. 71, 72; RP 1397-1404; Ex 25, 73.  Zghair was the 

registered owner.  RP 2120; Ex. 73.  Video showed someone 

parked the car and left in a waiting car.  RP 1406-10.  The 

windshield sticker had been peeled off, the front license plate 

reattached.  RP 2126. 

Also on April 9, Zghair pawned his cellphone.  RP 2266-

68.  On April 12, police searched Zghair’s listed address but 

Zghair stayed there only occasionally and was mainly 

homeless.  RP 1504-18, 1775, 2139. 

On April 13, Zghair asked to join two acquaintances he 

learned were driving to Canada.  RP 2340-43.  Canadian 

officials turned them away at the border.  RP 1551-55, 2345.  

Back at the U.S. border, Zghair presented another man’s ID.  

RP 1555-56, 1897, 2344.  The men were directed to secondary 

inspection.  RP 1557-58, 2347.  Zghair left.  RP 2348.  He ran 

from border officers and was caught.  RP 1567-68, 1572-74, 
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1585.  Detectives went to interview him at the Whatcom 

County Jail.  RP 1590, 2183-85. 

Before telling Zghair why they were there, detectives 

asked about the Pontiac.  Ex. 76.  Zghair acknowledged 

knowing it was impounded.  Ex. 76.  Zghair claimed he didn’t 

drive the car.  Ex. 76.  The detectives told Zghair the Pontiac 

was used in a murder, describing it only as “someone drove 

someone somewhere and murdered them and then left in the 

car.”  Ex. 76.  Zghair denied involvement and driving the 

Pontiac.  Ex. 76. 

Zghair dismissed questions about changing his 

appearance and using false ID, instead probing for details of the 

murder.  The detectives did not say who was killed, or when or 

how, only suggesting Zghair may have “tried to make money 

some wrong way” and that Zghair “killed him for no reason.”  

Ex. 76.  Zghair responded that he did not know how to use a 

gun.  Ex. 76.  Zghair denied killing anyone, but when pressed, 
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Zghair suddenly offered, “I told you if you guys talkin’ about a 

Mexican guy …”  Ex. 76. 

Zghair gave a confusing, contradictory account of driving 

the Mexican guy around Kent and admitted taking the man to 

withdraw $100.  Ex. 76.  Zghair denied driving to Auburn.  Ex. 

76.  But Zghair’s phone records matched Ruiz-Perez’s phone 

locations before and after the shooting, overlapping at the 

lonely crime scene for the same six minutes near 4 a.m.  RP 

2423-41. 

The interior of Zghair’s Pontiac reeked of cologne.  RP 

1636.  Birdshot was embedded in the back seat behind the 

driver’s seat.  RP 1664, 2167-82.  Trace amounts of Ruiz-

Perez’s blood in the car suggested thorough cleaning.  RP 1663-

69, 2010, 2019. 

A jury fully instructed on accomplice liability convicted 

Zghair of second-degree felony murder, predicated on second-

degree assault.  CP 1-9, 127, 137-38, 146. 
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The Court of Appeals reversed, finding insufficient 

evidence.  Zghair, No. 83489-4-I (Slip op.) at 1.  The court 

found that “at most, the evidence supports the inference that 

Zghair drove with the victim and another person … to the scene 

of the shooting.”  Id. at 16.  The court concluded there was “no 

evidence that Zghair or the person in the red jacket was the 

shooter.”  Id. at 17 (emphasis added).  The court found “no 

evidence that Zghair possessed a shotgun” and “no evidence 

that Zghair was aware there was a shotgun in the Pontiac, much 

less of a plan to use it to shoot Ruiz-Perez.”  Id. (emphasis 

added).  The Court of Appeals gave no weight to Zghair’s 

police interview, his acts of concealment or attempt to enter 

Canada, dismissing all the “after-the-fact” evidence as 

“pyramiding vague inference upon vague inference.”  Slip op. 

at 18-20. 

The lower court denied the State’s motion for 

reconsideration on January 22, 2024.  The State now seeks this 

Court’s review. 
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E. REASONS TO ACCEPT REVIEW 

RAP 13.4(b) permits review by this Court if the decision 

below conflicts with published decisions of either this Court or 

of the Court of Appeals.  This decision squarely conflicts with 

this Court’s decisions on the standard of review in sufficiency 

challenges, legal standards for accomplice liability and the 

evaluation of circumstantial evidence in such review. 

THE COURT OF APPEALS MISAPPLIED THE 
STANDARD OF REVIEW IN A SUFFICIENCY 
CLAIM, INCLUDING THE PROPER 
EVALUATION OF CIRCUMSTANTIAL 
EVIDENCE, AND MISUNDERSTOOD 
ACCOMPLICE LIABILITY. 

 
For decades, this Court has maintained a clear standard 

for sufficiency review on appeal, based on constitutional 

principles respecting juries as the centerpiece of factfinding: 

whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable 

to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt 

beyond a reasonable doubt.”  State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 

201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 
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216, 220-22, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)).  “[T]his inquiry does not 

require a court to ask itself whether it believes that the evidence 

at the trial established guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  

Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. 

Ed. 2d 560 (1979) (italics in original).  “This familiar standard 

gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to 

resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to 

draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.”  

Id.  “Once a defendant has been found guilty of the crime 

charged, the factfinder’s role as weigher of the evidence is 

preserved through a legal conclusion that upon judicial review 

all of the evidence is to be considered in the light most 

favorable to the prosecution.”  Id. (emphasis in original).  Thus, 

the trier of fact is the sole and exclusive judge of the evidence, 

and a reviewing court’s role is not to reweigh the evidence and 

substitute its judgment for that of the jury, especially where the 

appellate court never hears or sees witnesses testify and reviews 
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only a subset of the evidence.  State v. Notaro, 161 Wn. App. 

654, 671, 255 P.3d 774 (2011). 

“A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s 

evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn 

therefrom.”  Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201 (emphasis added).  All 

reasonable inferences from the evidence are viewed in favor of 

the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant.  

Id.  In the sufficiency context, this Court considers 

circumstantial evidence as probative as direct evidence.  State 

v. Goodman, 150 Wn.2d 774, 781, 83 P.3d 410 (2004). 

Importantly, because the factfinder’s role is to draw 

reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts, it 

“would invade the province of the factfinder by appropriating to 

the appellate court the role of factually determining the 

reasonableness of an inference.”  State v. Bencivenga, 137 

Wn.2d 703, 708-09, 974 P.2d 832 (1999).  “Just because there 

are hypothetically rational alternative conclusions to be drawn 

from the proven facts, the factfinder is not lawfully barred 
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against discarding one possible inference when it concludes 

such inference unreasonable under the circumstances.”  Id.  

Nothing forbids a jury from logically inferring an element of 

the crime from proven facts, so long as it is satisfied the State 

has proved that element beyond a reasonable doubt.  Id. at 709.  

“An essential function of the factfinder is to discount theories 

which it determines unreasonable because the finder of fact is 

the sole and exclusive judge of the evidence, the weight to be 

given thereto, and the credibility of witnesses.”  Id.  “It is the 

province of the finder of fact to determine what conclusions 

reasonably follow from the particular evidence in a case.”  Id. at 

711.  “The role of the appellate court is to determine whether or 

not any rational trier of fact, viewing the evidence in the light 

most favorable to the prosecution, could have found, beyond a 

reasonable doubt, all the essential elements of the crime.”  Id. at 

709 (emphasis added). 

In other words, the factfinder may pyramid inferences 

derived from the proven evidence if the inferences are 
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reasonable and the jury is instructed that the elements of the 

crime the inferences support must be proven beyond a 

reasonable doubt.  Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 708-11.  Purely 

circumstantial evidence may be sufficient if it permits the jury 

to infer beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 

committed the crimes charged.  State v. McFarland, 73 Wn. 

App. 57, 867 P.2d 660 (1994).  That means that while one piece 

of circumstantial evidence might not itself permit an inference 

of guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a combination of 

permissible inferences from all the evidence can, and the 

reviewing court must not ignore or discount individual pieces of 

relevant evidence, and the permissible inferences to be drawn 

from them, when considering the sufficiency of the whole case.  

See State v. Israel, 113 Wn. App. 243, 270, 54 P.3d 1218 

(2002) (“permissible inferences from the evidence could 

convince a rational juror beyond a reasonable doubt that 

[defendant] was guilty of the crimes charged”). 
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 The notion that a defendant cannot be found guilty 

through “pyramiding of inferences” from circumstantial 

evidence has long been overruled and discredited.  State v. 

Couch, 44 Wn. App. 26, 29-30, 720 P.2d 1387 (1986); 

Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 711.  The discredited principle, in 

the early 1960’s, was, “While a conviction may be sustained 

solely on circumstantial evidence, the circumstances proved 

must be unequivocal and inconsistent with innocence.”  Couch, 

44 Wn. App. at 29-30 (quoting State v. Weaver, 66 Wn.2d 87, 

89, 371 P.2d 1006 (1962) (conviction based on a single piece of 

vague evidence)); Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 711.  “We have 

since rejected this rule in favor of the rule that whether the 

evidence be direct, circumstantial, or a combination of the two, 

the jury need be instructed that it need only be convinced of the 

defendant’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.”  Bencivenga, 137 

Wn.2d at 711.  Even if the only evidence of guilt is 

circumstantial evidence, the evidence does not need to be 

inconsistent with a hypothesis of innocence.  Couch, 44 Wn. 
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App. at 29.  See also 1 CLIFFORD S. FISHMAN, JONES ON 

EVIDENCE: CIVIL AND CRIMINAL § 5.17 at 450 (7th ed. 

1992, 2023 update) (Statement that a factfinder cannot base one 

inference upon another is “a gross overstatement. If the 

inferences and underlying evidence are strong enough to permit 

a rational factfinder to find guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, a 

conviction may be properly based on ‘pyramiding 

inferences.’”).  See also The Pyramiding of Presumptions and 

Inferences in Texas, 4 ST. MARY’S L.J. (1972) (“Questions 

concerning the sufficiency of the evidence should not be 

determined by reference to an arbitrary rule which completely 

ignores the probative value of the evidence.”). 

 Thus, in mounting a circumstantial case against Zghair, 

the State was entitled to present an accumulation of 

circumstantial evidence to satisfy the jury’s determination of 

proof beyond a reasonable doubt of the charged crime, even if 

no single piece of evidence was itself conclusive proof of an 

element of the crime.  It was the province of the jury to 
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determine whether those cumulative reasonable inferences 

convinced it beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant 

committed the charged crime.  The lower court invaded that 

province by ignoring this and other important legal principles. 

1. The Court of Appeals Applied an Incorrect 
Standard of Accomplice Liability. 

 
 The jury was charged with determining whether Zghair 

or an accomplice committed assault in the second degree and 

that Zghair or an accomplice caused the death of Ruiz-Perez in 

the course of and in furtherance of that crime.  CP 121.  The 

jury was instructed that an intentional shooting amounts to 

second-degree assault.  CP 123. 

Under an accomplice liability theory, the State must 

prove the crime was committed and the accused acted with 

knowledge that he was aiding in the commission of the offense.  

RCW 9A.08.020(3)(a)(ii); State v. Lazcano, 188 Wn. App. 338, 

363, 354 P.3d 233 (2015).  Nothing forbids a jury from 

logically inferring mens rea from proven facts, so long as it is 



 
 
2402-5 Zghair SupCt 

- 18 - 

satisfied the State has proved mens rea beyond a reasonable 

doubt.  Bencivenga, 137 Wn.2d at 709.  An actor’s mental state 

may be wholly inferred from circumstantial evidence, including 

inferring that a defendant intends the natural and probable 

consequences of his acts.  State v. Bea, 162 Wn. App. 570, 579, 

254 P.3d 948 (2011). 

 It is a “long-standing rule that an accomplice need not 

have specific knowledge of every element of the crime 

committed by the principal, provided he has general knowledge 

of that specific crime.”  State v. Dreewes, 192 Wn.2d 812, 823, 

432 P.3d 795 (2019).  “[T]he State is required to prove only the 

accomplice’s general knowledge of his coparticipant’s 

substantive crime.”  Id. (emphasis in original).  “…[T]he State 

need not prove that the principal and accomplice share the same 

mental state.”  State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 431, 705 P.2d 

1182 (1985).  A person has actual knowledge when he has 

information which would lead a reasonable person in the same 
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situation to believe that he was facilitating the crime eventually 

charged.  Dreewes, 192 Wn.2d at 825. 

 The Court of Appeals anchored its analysis in a 

misunderstanding of these principles.  It insisted that the only 

way Zghair could be an accomplice to Ruiz-Perez’s shooting 

was to have known of and supported a plan to shoot him in 

advance.  That was erroneous and should be corrected. 

The State was permitted to prove through circumstantial 

evidence that Zghair had information that would lead a 

reasonable person to believe that he was aiding someone else’s 

shooting of Ruiz-Perez.  That assistance could have occurred 

before the shooting, by transporting him there with a gun in the 

car.  It also could have occurred at the time of the shooting, by 

assisting in the fight or the shooting itself.  It also could have 

occurred in the immediate flight to escape the shooting as the 

getaway driver with contemporaneous general knowledge of the 

crime he was facilitating.  See State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. 

App. 829, 864, 230 P.3d 245 (2010); State v. Rainwater, 75 
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Wn. App. 256, 257 n.1, 876 P.2d 979 (1994); State v. Elza, 87 

Wn. App. 336, 344-45, 941 P.2d 728 (1997). 

Zghair did not have to intend to shoot Ruiz-Perez; he did 

not have to share in a “plan.”  Zghair only needed to have 

general knowledge that the shooter was shooting Ruiz-Perez 

and assisted him in some way, including driving him to the 

scene or helping him get away immediately after the shot.  

Those inferences were reasonable from the circumstantial 

evidence in this case. 

2. The Appellate Court Failed to Consider All 
the State’s Evidence in Combination, and 
All the Reasonable Inferences, in the Light 
Most Favorable to the State. 

 
 There is no question that this was a difficult 

circumstantial case, made harder by the fact that the second 

perpetrator was never identified.  But the lower court was 

bound to consider all the evidence in the light most favorable to 

the State and to make all inferences in the State’s favor and 
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interpret them most strongly against the defendant.  Jackson, 

443 U.S. at 319; Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 201.  It did not do so. 

When viewed in the light most favorable to the State, the 

evidence showed that Zghair himself, in his own car, drove the 

victim around in a populated area for hours, stopping at an 

ATM, then drove far out of the way to a dark, secluded road 

where Ruiz-Perez was immediately shot.  Because he was the 

driver of the car in such unusual, secretive, and ominous 

circumstances, a reasonable jury could infer that Zghair drove 

Ruiz-Perez to that clandestine location for the purpose of him 

being assaulted with a gun.  The jury was entitled to reject 

countertheories, which it plainly did, such as that Zghair was 

merely a hapless driver, especially when he covered up and lied 

to police.  The appellate court was then obliged to reject such 

countertheories in Zghair’s favor and consider the inferences 

only in the State’s favor and most strongly against Zghair. 

Second, in the light most favorable to the State, Ruiz-

Perez’s shooting, with the six-minute time frame, evidence of a 
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struggle and birdshot and blood embedded into the back seat of 

Zghair’s car, behind his driver’s seat, permits a reasonable 

inference that Zghair knew that Ruiz-Perez was being assaulted 

and contributed with his knowing presence and support, 

including speeding away with the other perpetrator to escape an 

intentional shooting.  The jury was entitled to reject 

countertheories, such as the fanciful theory that the other man 

— or some hypothetical other person — produced a heretofore 

unknown shotgun and shot Ruiz-Perez out of the blue, 

especially when no evidence supported such a counter-

inference and Zghair failed to offer such an explanation, instead 

lying to police.  The lower court’s conclusion that there was 

“no evidence that Zghair or the person in the red jacket was the 

shooter” defies logic and the proper standard of review.  Slip 

op. at 17.  Evidence proving Zghair’s car turned down that road 

at the exact time of the shooting, the eyewitness accounts of the 

shooting, the signs of a struggle, and common sense all 

permitted the jury to reach such a non-speculative conclusion. 
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Thirdly, in the light most favorable to the State, the 

evidence included multiple examples of Zghair’s consciousness 

of guilt in an intentional shooting.  The evidence that Zghair’s 

car was cleaned, altered and hidden, that Ruiz-Perez’s 

cellphone was ditched, that Zghair pawned his own phone and 

tried to go to Canada under an alias, then lied to police about 

being involved while revealing knowledge of the details, add up 

to reasonable inferences of covering up and flight, contributing 

to the ultimate inference that Zghair knowingly participated in 

the shooting. 

Significantly, Zghair never offered to police any version 

of events that would support a jury finding that Ruiz-Perez’s 

death was self-defense, accident or necessity.  Thus, there was 

no evidence from which the jury might conclude that Zghair 

was not responsible for the victim’s death.  The jury was 

entitled to conclude that Zghair’s concealment and lies 

demonstrated his involvement in the murder, i.e., guilty 

knowledge. 
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Yet from all the circumstantial evidence, the court of 

appeals gleaned only a single factual inference: “Zghair was 

present at the shooting.”  The conclusion reveals a failure to 

follow the proper standard of review. 

Fundamentally, the lower court appeared unaware or 

unaccepting of the longstanding legal principle that the 

combined totality of circumstantial evidence may permit a 

reasonable jury to infer guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, even if 

each individual circumstance does not prove an element 

standing alone.  At oral argument, when the State argued that 

principle, The Hon. Judge Coburn interrupted to ask, with 

seeming incredulity, “So you’re saying that if each piece of 

evidence doesn’t satisfy it, as long as you pile them together, it 

does?”1  When the State responded affirmatively, the panel 

continued to press the State to name specific evidence that 

individually proved elements of the crime. 

 
1 https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-
2023041312/?eventID=2023041312 at 8:18-13:10. 

https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2023041312/?eventID=2023041312
https://tvw.org/video/division-1-court-of-appeals-2023041312/?eventID=2023041312
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The lower court’s opinion then doubled down on that 

misunderstanding.  The lower court’s ultimate conclusions were 

that “no rational juror could conclude beyond a reasonable 

doubt that [1] a shotgun was inside the [car], that [2] Zghair 

knew a shotgun was in his car when he drove Ruiz-Perez to the 

scene, or that [3] Zghair knew of a plan to shoot Ruiz-Perez.”  

Slip op. at 22.  All three conclusions reveal mistrust of 

circumstantial evidence, and the inferences from it in the light 

most favorable to the State.  The conclusions suggest the lower 

court demanded direct evidence of those three facts.  For 

example, the lower court insisted the State needed direct 

evidence of the “dimensions of the shotgun” to prove its case.  

Slip op. at 17. 

The first conclusion, that no rational juror could infer 

there was a shotgun in the car, contradicts logic.  The evidence 

showed that Zghair’s car arrived with Ruiz-Perez at the 

secluded road and he was shot inside six minutes, leaving 

birdshot in the car seat but no shotgun left behind.  There was 
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an empty road one minute, then a car arrived, Ruiz-Perez was 

shot, and then the road was empty again.  It was reasonable to 

infer the gun came with the car. 

The second conclusion, that there was no evidence 

Zghair knew there was a shotgun in his car, is fallacious in law 

and common sense.  Zghair owned the car; evidence proved he 

drove it.  It was reasonable to infer not only that Zghair knew 

his car’s contents but possessed them.  See State v. Ibarra-

Erives, 23 Wn. App. 2d 596, 602, 516 P.3d 1246 (2022) 

(dominion and control over premises creates presumption of 

possession of items within).  See also State v. Bowen, 157 Wn. 

App. 821, 828, 239 P.3d 1114 (2010) (sufficient evidence of 

possession when defendant was the driver or owner of the car in 

which item was found).  The lower court’s criticism of the 

evidence requires viewing the evidence in the light most 

favorable to Zghair. 

The third conclusion, that there was no evidence of a 

“plan” to shoot Ruiz-Perez ignores the reasonable combined 
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inferences that there was such a plan.  In the light most 

favorable to the State, the reasonable inferences pyramid to 

form proof of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt:  It was 

reasonable to infer there was a shotgun in the car.  It was 

reasonable to infer Zghair knew of it and even possessed it 

because he owned and drove the car.  He drove Ruiz-Perez 

around for hours and then suddenly to a secluded place where 

Ruiz-Perez was quickly shot.  Zghair immediately fled the 

scene.  He covered up the crime.  He pawned his phone and 

tried to go to Canada under a false name.  He lied to police.  

The court of appeals’ erroneous refusal to accept this 

combination of inferences in the State’s light led to the illogical 

conclusion that there was “no evidence” of Zghair’s 

participation. 

But there is more.  The lower court revealed its improper 

standard of review when it extensively weighed, and then 

discarded, Zghair’s “after-the-fact” actions. 
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First, the lower court permitted no inference at all from 

Zghair’s car being cleaned, altered and abandoned in an out-of-

the-way location, refusing even to accept that Zghair did any of 

that, instead pointedly describing it as done by “someone,” 

which is viewing it in the light most favorable to Zghair.  Slip 

op. at 4.  It should have accepted the inference in the State’s 

light — the most natural one — that Zghair did these things, 

showing consciousness of guilt. 

Next, the court revealed an improper standard through its 

inapposite and lengthy legal discussion of how much weight to 

afford Zghair’s attempt to enter Canada with false 

identification, ultimately deciding to give it none.  Slip op. at 

18-19.  Under the proper standard of appellate review, 

admissible evidence should not be weighed.  The State was 

entitled to all the weight and all the inferences.  It was evidence 

Zghair was fleeing from his knowing participation in the crime. 

But the lower court analyzed it as flight evidence 

generally — in the context of admissibility — and discarded it 
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as “marginally probative.”  Slip op. at 18-19 (citing State v. 

Slater, 197 Wn.2d 660, 668, 486 P.3d 873 (2021) (error in 

admitting single failure to appear in court as flight evidence)).  

That confused the role of the appellate court in reviewing 

sufficiency with its role in determining admissibility.  The lower 

court should not have considered the weight of this evidence at 

all, let alone dismissing it.  Even the case it relied on, Slater, 

acknowledged that flight evidence is relevant to show 

consciousness of guilt when someone travels to another state or 

cleans or destroys evidence.  197 Wn.2d at 669-70.  But the 

lower court ignored that in favor of scolding the State for 

“pyramiding vague inferences.” 

Next, the lower court revealed an improper standard 

when it discounted Zghair’s police interview as showing 

nothing more than awareness of the crime “after it occurred.”  

Slip op. at 18.  That conclusion can be reached only by 

reweighing the evidence in Zghair’s favor.  A reasonable jury, 

in weighing the reasonableness of the contrasting ultimate 
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inferences, could infer from Zghair’s evasiveness and 

dishonesty, combined with specific knowledge of the crime, 

that he was covering up his knowing involvement.  On review, 

the State was entitled to all reasonable inferences from the 

interview.  The lower court was obligated to consider all the 

State’s evidence in totality.  It did not. 

In the end, the lower court’s opinion calls for review by 

this Court.  It did not apply the proper standard of review.  It 

did not consider the evidence wholistically, and in the light 

most favorable to the State and most strongly against Zghair.  It 

discounted circumstantial evidence and the long-established 

principle of pyramiding inferences from it to achieve proof 

beyond a reasonable doubt.  And the lower court did not 

understand the proper measure of accomplice liability.  The 

opinion usurped the role of the factfinder. 

This Court should accept review. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons set forth above, the State respectfully 

requests this Court grant review of the Court of Appeals’ 

decision in this case. 
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THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, 
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  v. 
 
ABBAS SALAH ZGHAIR, 
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 No. 83489-4-I 
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 UNPUBLISHED OPINION 
 
 
 
 

 
CHUNG, J. — A jury convicted Abbas Zghair of felony murder in the 

second degree while committing assault in the second degree with a firearm 

enhancement. On appeal, Zghair challenges the sufficiency of the State’s 

evidence, its exercise of a peremptory challenge, and the trial court’s failure to 

instruct the jury regarding the missing witness doctrine. We hold that the 

evidence was insufficient to support Zghair’s conviction either as a principal or an 

accomplice. We reverse and remand for dismissal of Zghair’s conviction with 

prejudice.1 

FACTS 

A passerby found the body of Silvano Ruiz Perez in a gravel field at the 

site of an old drive-in theater in Auburn, Washington, the morning of Sunday, 

March 24, 2019, and called the police. A medical examiner later determined that 

                                                 
1 Because we reverse for insufficiency of evidence, we do not address Zghair’s additional 

assignments of error. 
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Ruiz Perez had died from a gaping shotgun wound to his left forearm which was 

estimated to have been fired from “probably within three feet” of him. A trail of 

blood led from the body back to the street. Auburn police officers found a broken 

necklace at the scene that would later be identified as belonging to Ruiz Perez. 

The police did not recover a shotgun, shotgun shells, or anything associated with 

a shotgun at the scene.2  

Ruiz Perez had a mobile phone provided by his employer. Although that 

phone was not recovered from the scene, according to phone location data 

obtained from the phone’s service provider, Ruiz Perez went to an automated 

teller machine (ATM) a little after 1:00 a.m. on Saturday, March 23. Video from 

the ATM shows him getting out of the rear driver’s side door of a white Pontiac 

sedan. At about 2:00 a.m., Ruiz Perez called his fiancée, taxi companies, and a 

coworker for a ride home. The last call from the phone was made at 2:41 a.m.  

The phone location data for Ruiz Perez’s phone demonstrates that the 

phone traveled around Kent, Washington, between 3:00 and 4:00 a.m. Traffic 

cameras show the white Pontiac sedan driving through the same areas at the 

same time. At 3:27 a.m., Ruiz Perez’s phone was near a Chevron gas station. 

Video from that gas station shows two men entering the gas station. One man, 

subsequently identified as Zghair, is wearing yellow pants. The other man is 

wearing a red jacket or sweatshirt; his identity remains unknown. Ruiz Perez 

                                                 
2 Nor did officers recover a shotgun or anything associated with a shotgun when they later 

searched Zghair’s apartment.  
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does not appear in the video. A minute later, at 3:28 a.m., the video shows the 

white Pontiac leaving the gas station.  

By 4:00 a.m., phone location data placed Ruiz Perez’s phone near the 

abandoned lot where his body was later found. Traffic camera video shows the 

white Pontiac turning onto the street where the lot is located at 4:09 a.m., then 

leaving at 4:14 a.m.  

Maryanne Denton testified that she heard two gunshots at about 3:30 a.m. 

on Saturday, March 23, 2019.3 She and her husband Mark were living in their car 

and parked for the night next to the abandoned lot. After she heard the two shots, 

they heard people arguing in a language they believed to be Spanish, then a car 

leaving. The car’s headlights were shining at them, so the Dentons could not 

identify the car or the people they had heard arguing.  

Later that morning, about 9:00 a.m., traffic cameras show that the white 

Pontiac returned to the Chevron gas station. Records from Ruiz Perez’s phone 

show it arrived at that area at the same time.  

Location data from Zghair’s phone matched the movements of Ruiz 

Perez’s phone through the early morning hours of March 23 leading up to 4:00 

a.m. and after. Google Geofence warrants for the Chevron station from 3:00 a.m. 

to 4:00 a.m., the homicide scene between 3:45 a.m. and 4:45 a.m., and the 

Chevron station again from 8:50 a.m. to 9:50 a.m. later that morning revealed no 

                                                 
3 She states “March 22, around . . . 3:30 a.m.,” but it is clear from her further testimony that 

she is referring to the very early morning of the next day, Saturday March 23, 2019.    
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phones other than Zghair and Ruiz Perez’s present in those areas during those 

times.4   

More than two weeks after the shooting, an officer on patrol located a 

vehicle near the Polaris apartments in Covington, Washington, that matched the 

description of a white Pontiac pictured in a bulletin that was issued to police 

departments. Although “someone” had moved the front license plate and tried to 

remove a distinctive sticker from the front windshield, the car matched the white 

Pontiac from the videos based on its mirrors, its wheels, and damage to the car. 

The car was registered to Zghair. The same day that police found the Pontiac, 

Zghair pawned his mobile phone.  

A Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) team searched Zghair’s Pontiac. 

The car “had a very strong smell of cologne or something.” The rear passenger 

seat behind the driver was torn. The tear was toward the window side of the seat, 

and blood was found in the cushion in the same area. The FBI team recovered 

small amounts of blood from the cushion and the car’s door jamb, and DNA5 

tests matched that blood to Ruiz Perez. They recovered birdshot from the seat 

cushion after it was x-rayed.  

4 At trial, Detective Arneson explained that a Google Geofence is “an imaginary fence . . . 
around a location and by providing . . . this fence . . . to Google, they will provide for a date and a 
time[ t]he user ID numbers for . . . every phone that contacts their network.” The area centered on 
the Chevron station encompassed a 100-meter radius. The area centered on the homicide scene 
encompassed a 200-meter radius. The evidence at trial suggests Maryanne Denton’s phone was 
in the vicinity, as she was “watching a movie on [her] phone” at the scene when she heard two 
shots at about 3:30 a.m. Saturday. Also, the man in the red jacket is pictured with Zghair at the 
Chevron gas station at 3:27 a.m. Even so, neither Maryanne Denton’s phone nor any other phone 
was identified in the response to the geofence warrants.  

5 Deoxyribonucleic acid. 
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Police obtained a search warrant for Zghair’s address of record, as he was 

a possible suspect. A crime response team searched this apartment three weeks 

after the shooting on April 12, 2019. The next day, April 13, Zghair joined two 

friends traveling to Canada. Canadian officials denied the group entry. Returning 

to the U.S. border station at Sumas, Washington, Zghair presented a friend’s 

Washington State driver’s license. Because the group had been denied entry into 

Canada, they were referred for further processing but not detained.  

While waiting for further processing, Zghair went to a nearby gas station. 

Border control officers went looking for Zghair and soon located him. Zghair ran 

from the officers but was quickly apprehended.  

Zghair was detained in Bellingham, Washington. Detectives from the 

Auburn Police Department investigating the murder of Ruiz Perez had asked the 

Department of Homeland Security to notify them if they encountered Zghair. 

Accordingly, border control agents notified Detectives Arneson and Walker, who 

interviewed Zghair at the Whatcom County Jail on April 13, 2019. In that 

interview, Zghair acknowledged owning the Pontiac. He explained that his 

license was not valid, so he did not drive the car anymore, but friends did. The 

detectives noted that Zghair had shaved off all his facial hair.  

The detectives told Zghair his car had been used in a murder but gave him 

no other details. At trial, the videotaped interview was played for the jury: 

DET WALKER: Your car was used in the commission of a 
murder. It was involved in a murder. Someone 
drove someone somewhere and murdered 
them and then left in the car. 

ZGHAIR: What? How? 
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. . . . 

 
DET WALKER: I think that-that you tried to earn money some 

wrong way and that things went bad. That’s 
what I think happened. 

ZGHAIR: what... 
DET WALKER: But I would like you to tell us what happened. 
 

. . . .  
 
ZGHAIR: Nah I’m not like that. I’m not like that. I’m . . . 
DET ARNESON: So you’re just [sic] and killed him for no reason. 
 

. . . . 
 
ZGHAIR: Killed who? What are you guys talkin’ about? I 

can’t use a gun. Um I don’t know how to use 
guns. What are you guys talkin’ about? 

DET WALKER: What do you mean you don’t know how to use 
a gun? 

ZGHAIR: I don’t know how to use a gun. Come on man. 
 
The detectives then asked about the man in red:  

DET WALKER: The guy in red. 
DET ARNESON: Who was that? 
ZGHAIR: Guy in the red? 
DET WALKER: Yeah. Black dude. Bright red jacket. 
ZGHAIR: I-I-I don’t know what you guys are talkin’ about 

man. I-I... 
DET WALKER: Bright red jacket. In your white... 
ZGHAIR: uh so... 
DET WALKER: in your white Pontiac. 
ZGHAIR: I told you if you guys talkin’ about a Mexican 

guy... 
DET WALKER: No. 
ZGHAIR: yes, I picked him up from gas station. I drop 

him off. I’m telling you the truth. 
 

Zghair admitted taking the person he described as the “Mexican guy,” to the 

ATM, where the man withdrew $100. He said the man wanted to buy “coke.”  
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The State charged Zghair with felony murder in the second degree while 

committing assault in the second degree with a firearm enhancement. The jury 

was instructed on both liability as a principal and as an accomplice. It returned a 

general verdict of guilty and affirmatively answered a special verdict asking if 

Zghair was armed with a firearm at the time of the commission of the crime. The 

court sentenced Zghair to a standard range term of 192 months plus the 60-

month mandatory firearm enhancement, for a total of 252 months. He timely 

appeals.  

ANALYSIS 

Zghair challenges the State’s evidence as insufficient to convict him of 

felony murder as either the principal who shot Ruiz Perez, resulting in his death, 

or as an accomplice to that shooting. The sufficiency of the evidence is a 

question of constitutional law that we review de novo. State v. Rich, 184 Wn.2d 

897, 903, 365 P.3d 746 (2016). The State bears the burden of proving all the 

elements of an offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Rich, 184 Wn.2d at 903 

(citing In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 

(1970); U.S. CONST. amend. XIV; WASH. CONST. art. I, § 3). “A ‘modicum’ of 

evidence does not meet this standard.” Rich, 184 Wn.2d at 903 (quoting Jackson 

v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 320, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)).  

“A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all 

inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom.” State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 

192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). “In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, 

circumstantial evidence is not to be considered any less reliable than direct 
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evidence.” State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). 

“ ‘[I]nferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and cannot 

be based on speculation.’ ” Rich, 184 Wn.2d at 903 (quoting State v. Vasquez, 

178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013)).  

Thus, “[t]o determine if sufficient evidence supports a conviction, we 

consider ‘whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the 

prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of 

the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.’ ” Rich, 184 Wn.2d at 903 (quoting 

Jackson, 443 U.S. at 319) (emphasis from Jackson and Rich) (other citations 

omitted). Even so, “[o]ur role as the reviewing court is not to reweigh the 

evidence and substitute our judgment for that of the jury.” State v. Notaro, 161 

Wn. App. 654, 671, 255 P.3d 774 (2011) (citing State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 

221, 616 P.2d 628 (1980)). Our inquiry “impinges upon a jury’s discretion only to 

the extent necessary to protect the constitutional standard of reasonable doubt.” 

Green, 94 Wn.2d at 221.  

Zghair was charged with and convicted of felony murder in the second 

degree while committing assault in the second degree. As charged here, the 

State had to prove that Zghair or an accomplice committed assault in the second 

degree and that Zghair or an accomplice caused the death of Ruiz Perez in the 

course of and in furtherance of such crime or in immediate flight from such crime. 

RCW 9A.32.050(1)(b). We consider separately the sufficiency of the State’s 

evidence to convict Zghair as the principal and as an accomplice.   
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I. Liability as a principal 

To convict Zghair as a principal, the State had to prove that he committed 

the predicate offense of assault in the second degree. A person commits assault 

in the second degree when the person assaults another person with a deadly 

weapon. RCW 9A.36.021(c).6 Zghair argues that there was insufficient evidence 

to prove he is the person who shot Ruiz Perez.  

The State concedes there is no direct evidence to show that Zghair was 

the person who shot Ruiz Perez or that he had the requisite intent to do so.7 

Instead, the State argues the jury could reasonably infer that the shooting was 

intentional based on circumstantial evidence. Specifically, the State points to the 

early hour of the shooting, the secluded place where Ruiz Perez was shot, and 

the fact that he was shot at close range, “likely while still in Zghair’s car,” as 

supporting an inference that the shooter intentionally pointed the shotgun at him 

and intentionally pulled the trigger. The State also suggests that the assault was 

intentional, not accidental, as Ruiz Perez’s broken necklace and the Dentons’ 

testimony that they heard an argument provide circumstantial evidence that the 

shooting occurred in the context of a fight or struggle. The State further contends 

that a jury could infer the shooting was intentional, rather than accidental, 

because Maryanne Denton heard two gunshots, not one, and Ruiz Perez’s 

assailants did not pursue him into the abandoned lot.  

                                                 
6 A firearm is a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.04.110(6). Zghair does not dispute the sufficiency 

of the State’s evidence that Ruiz Perez was shot with a shotgun and died from a shotgun wound.  
7 A person acts intentionally when they act with the objective or purpose to accomplish the 

result that constitutes a crime. RCW 9A.08.010. 
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But to prove that Zghair was the principal in the shooting, not only did the 

State have to prove that the shooting was intentional,8 the State had to establish 

that Zghair was the person who shot Ruiz Perez. And while the State argued in 

closing that Zghair “very well could have been the human being that pointed that 

shotgun,” it never presented evidence that supports a reasonable inference that 

Zghair was the shooter. Although there is evidence that Zghair’s and Ruiz 

Perez’s phones were in the car at the time of the shooting, as well as blood and 

birdshot in the seat cushion to connect the car to the shooting, no evidence 

permits an inference that connects Zghair to the act of shooting. Nor is there 

evidence even to connect Zghair to a shotgun; no one saw him with a shotgun, 

and there is no physical evidence because the weapon was never found.  

There was also no evidence that Zghair had a motive to shoot Ruiz Perez; 

the two were “strangers” to one another who had never met before. While the 

State argued at closing that Ruiz Perez “possibly” was killed for his phone, the 

intent to commit robbery does not establish the intent for the charged crime, 

assault with a deadly weapon. RCW 9A.36.021. Nor does the Dentons’ testimony 

that they overheard an argument that they thought was in Spanish connect 

Zghair to the shooting or establish that he had a motive to shoot Ruiz Perez. 

Zghair’s first language is Arabic, and there was no evidence that he speaks or 

understands Spanish. And the argument the Dentons said they overheard 

happened after Maryanne heard two shots fired, not before. 

                                                 
8 The jury was instructed that “[a] person acts with intent or intentionally when acting with 

the objective or purpose to accomplish a result that constitutes a crime.” See RCW 9A.08.010. 
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“ ‘[I]nferences based on circumstantial evidence must be reasonable and 

cannot be based on speculation.’ ” Rich, 184 Wn.2d at 903 (quoting State v. 

Vasquez, 178 Wn.2d 1, 16, 309 P.3d 318 (2013)). Here, determining that Zghair 

performed the physical act of pulling the shotgun’s trigger required the jury to 

speculate. Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, 

while a juror might reasonably infer from the State’s evidence that somebody 

shot Ruiz Perez intentionally, we cannot say that any rational trier of fact could 

have found beyond a reasonable doubt that Zghair was the person who pulled 

the trigger of the shotgun that killed Ruiz Perez. Therefore, we hold that there 

was insufficient evidence for the jury to convict Zghair of the felony murder 

predicated on an assault as the principal actor. 

II. Liability as an accomplice 

Next, we consider the sufficiency of the State’s evidence to convict Zghair 

under the alternative theory that he was an accomplice. To convict Zghair of 

felony murder under this theory, the State was required to prove beyond a 

reasonable doubt that Zghair was an accomplice in the predicate crime of assault 

in the second degree by use of deadly weapon.  

RCW 9A.08.020(3) defines when a person may be liable as an 

accomplice: 

A person is an accomplice of another person in the 
commission of a crime if: 

(a) With knowledge that it will promote or facilitate the 
commission of the crime, he or she: 

(i) Solicits, commands, encourages, or requests such other 
person to commit it; or 
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(ii) Aids or agrees to aid such other person in planning or 
committing it. 

 
RCW 9A.08.020(3).  

To be an accomplice, an individual must have acted with knowledge that 

they were promoting or facilitating the crime for which they were eventually 

charged, not merely the knowledge that the principal intended to commit a crime. 

State v. Cronin, 142 Wn.2d 568, 579, 14 P.3d 752 (2000). A defendant has 

actual knowledge when “he or she has information which would lead a 

reasonable person in the same situation to believe” that he was promoting or 

facilitating the crime eventually charged. State v. Allen, 182 Wn.2d 364, 374, 341 

P.3d 268 (2015) (quoting RCW 9A.08.010(1)(b)(ii)). “[T]he jury must find actual 

knowledge but may make such a finding with circumstantial evidence.” Id. 

(explaining the “critical” distinction between a jury permissibly finding actual 

knowledge through circumstantial evidence and impermissibly finding a 

defendant constructively “should have known”) (citing State v. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 

510, 514-16, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980)). 

“To prove that one present is an aider, it must be established that one is 

“ ‘ready to assist’ ” in the commission of the crime. State v. Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d 

931, 933, 631 P.2d 951 (1981) (quoting In re Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d 487, 

491, 588 P.2d 1161 (1979)). “One does not aid and abet unless, in some way, he 

associates himself with the undertaking, participates in it as in something he 

desires to bring about, and seeks by his action to make it succeed.” State v. J-R 

Distributors, Inc., 82 Wn.2d 584, 593, 512 P.2d 1049 (1973), cert. denied, 418 
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U.S. 949, 94 S. Ct. 3217, 41 L. Ed. 2d 1166 (1974). Further, to be liable as an 

accomplice, the person must knowingly aid the criminal enterprise of another 

before the fact.  State v. Anderson, 63 Wn. App. 257, 261, 818 P.2d 40 (1991) 

(citing RCW 9A.08.020) (distinguishing the crime of rendering criminal 

assistance, in which a person knowingly aids another’s criminal enterprise after 

the fact). 

Here, there was circumstantial evidence that Zghair was present at the 

scene of the crime. Zghair’s phone location data establishes that his phone was 

in the Pontiac, and Zghair was the owner of the phone and the registered owner 

and driver of the car. Further, the birdshot and blood recovered from the Pontiac 

connect the car to the shooting. This evidence together permits the inference that 

Zghair was present at the shooting.9 

Zghair argues that his “mere presence” at the scene of the crime cannot 

establish his liability as an accomplice. We agree. “This court has repeatedly 

stated that one’s presence at the commission of a crime, even coupled with a 

knowledge that one’s presence would aid in the commission of the crime, will not 

subject an accused to accomplice liability.” Rotunno, 95 Wn.2d at 933. See also 

In re Welfare of Wilson, 91 Wn.2d at 491-92 (“Mere knowledge or physical 

presence at the scene of a crime neither constitutes a crime nor will it support a 

charge of aiding and abetting a crime.”). The State must prove more than 

                                                 
9 When interviewed, Zghair initially claimed his driver’s license wasn’t valid and he did not 

drive the Pontiac. Almost immediately thereafter, in the same interview, Zghair said, “Yeah I drive 
it.”  
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Zghair’s presence at the shooting; it must establish that Zghair had actual 

knowledge, or information which would lead a reasonable person in his situation 

to believe, that he was promoting or facilitating the shooting. 

The State argues that “[t]here was ample circumstantial evidence of 

Zghair’s knowledge and facilitation of a second-degree assault in that he drove to 

the secluded scene of the shooting, with a shotgun in his car, then immediately 

fled the scene . . . .” At closing argument, the State argued: 

And at that moment that is [Zghair] turning a white Pontiac 
down that dark, you can see how dark it is, there’s no lights down D 
Street. It’s excluded, it’s quiet. And that is [Zghair] turning down 
what seems to be a somewhat abandoned road and inside his car 
it’s [Ruiz Perez], very likely the guy in the red shirt. And the gun that 
would be used to kill [Ruiz Perez]. 

[Zghair] at that moment is an accomplice to the murder of 
[Ruiz Perez]. [Zghair] at that moment whether he shot [Ruiz Perez] 
or not, facilitated the commission of [Ruiz Perez]’s shooting by his 
acts. Driving [Ruiz Perez] to this location of his death.  

 
State v. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. 543, 208 P.3d 1136 (2009), is instructive 

regarding what is sufficient evidence of the requisite knowledge to establish 

accomplice liability. There, following a gang shooting in a park, defendants 

Vaeilua and Williams were both convicted of felony murder in the second degree 

predicated on assault. Both challenged the sufficiency of the State’s evidence to 

convict them as accomplices. Id. at 550, 568, 572.  

Division Two of this court reversed Vaielua’s conviction. Id. at 598.  

“[A]lthough there was evidence that Vaielua was present at the 
park, that he drove [co-defendant] Williams and others to the park, 
and that he was aware that some members of the group he was 
with were trying to locate [the victim] Fola, the evidence failed to 
show that Vaielua was present at the scene with more than mere 
knowledge of some potential interaction with Fola.” 
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Id. at 568. Evidence showed that, at the scene of the crime, Vaielua spoke with 

people there and asked where “Blacc” was, referring to the victim by his street 

name. Id. at 569, 551. But there was no evidence about what was said during 

any conversation Vaielua had or overheard, nor any evidence that any of these 

conversations related to a plan to shoot or assault the victim. Id. at 569. Thus, 

the court reasoned that “no evidence, direct or indirect, establish[ed] that Vaielua 

was aware of any plan . . . to assault or shoot [the victim].” Id. at 568-69.  

In contrast, in the same case, the court held that there was sufficient 

evidence to convict Williams as an accomplice. Williams approached the victim, 

who was still in the driver’s seat, and challenged him to a fight.10 Id. at 556-57. 

The victim leaned over and reached for something under the seat, and then 

reached for the glove box. Id. at 557. A witness testified that Williams stated the 

victim had a gun and tapped the person behind him, Asaeli, upon which gunfire 

erupted. Id. The court held that Williams acted in the course of and in the 

furtherance of or in immediate flight from an assault:   

[T]aken in the light most favorable to the State, the evidence was 
sufficient to allow the jury to find that Asaeli was standing ready to 
assist Williams; that Williams knew Asaeli was armed because 
Asaeli positioned himself near Williams in way that allowed him 
access to [the victim] Fola; that Williams turned to Asaeli and 
signaled to him with a tap when the situation escalated; and that, in 
response to Williams’s tap, Asaeli immediately stepped in and shot 
Fola. The evidence was sufficient to allow the jury to conclude that 
the assault or attempted assault encompassed the entire incident, 
not just Williams’s initial verbal challenge to Fola, and that the 

                                                 
10 A witness testified that Williams said to the victim, “[T]his be Twix ... let's go heads-up,” 

which she interpreted as an invitation to fight. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. at 557. 
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shooting occurred during the course of the assault or attempted 
assault.[11] 
 

Id. at 572. 

Regarding whether Williams knew the shooter, Asaeli, was armed and 

was going to shoot the victim, or that the two of them were acting in concert, the 

evidence showed that Williams and Asaeli spoke before going to the park where 

the shooting occurred and arrived simultaneously at the park. Id. at 573. Several 

people in the group with whom they arrived called out asking for the victim. Id. 

Further, Williams approached the victim with the shooter and positioned himself 

close by, and Williams signaled to the shooter once the situation escalated, upon 

which the shooter, Asaeli, immediately stepped forward and shot the victim. Id. 

The court reasoned that this evidence was sufficient to support the jury’s 

conclusion that Williams knew Asaeli was armed and prepared to shoot the 

victim despite the lack of direct evidence of such knowledge.12 Id. 

Here, at most, the evidence supports an inference that Zghair drove with 

the victim and another person, the unidentified man in the red jacket, to the 

scene of the shooting. However, like Vaielua in Asaeli, merely driving to the 

scene does not support an inference that Zghair was aware of a plan to assault 

                                                 
11 Unlike in the present case, where the predicate crime was assault with a deadly weapon, 

in Asaeli, the jury instructions allowed the jury to convict Williams of felony murder if he assaulted 
or attempted to assault the victim. The court in that case held that the evidence was sufficient to 
allow the jury to conclude that Williams and the others who approached the victim attempted to 
assault him. Asaeli, 150 Wn. App. at 557. 

12 While the court held the State’s evidence was sufficient to support Williams's conviction, 
it also held that the trial court erred by admitting gang association evidence and gang expert 
testimony that unfairly prejudiced him. Id. at 549. Therefore, the court reversed Williams’s 
conviction and remanded for further proceedings. Id. at 598.  
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the victim. And, unlike Williams in Asaeli, where there was sufficient evidence 

that Williams challenged the victim to a fight, culminating in the shooting, and did 

so knowing Asaeli was armed and prepared to assist in that fight, here, while 

Zghair was with the unknown person in the red jacket in the car, there is no 

evidence that Zghair or the person in the red jacket was the shooter or that 

Zghair was aware of any plan that any person was armed and prepared to shoot 

Ruiz Perez. 

The State also asserts that Zghair was aware of a plan to shoot Ruiz 

Perez because he drove to the scene “with a shotgun in his car.”  But there was 

no evidence that Zghair was aware there was a shotgun in the Pontiac, much 

less of a plan to use it to shoot Ruiz Perez. While the evidence of birdshot and 

blood in the car supports the inference that Ruiz Perez was shot with a shotgun 

in or very close to the rear seat on the driver’s side of the car, the police did not 

recover the shotgun used to commit the crime, and there is no evidence that 

Zghair possessed one. There was no evidence of the dimensions of the shotgun 

that killed Ruiz Perez or whether the shotgun that killed him was fired from within 

the car or from outside it.  

As evidence that Zghair was “at least a knowing participant” in the 

shooting, the State also points to Zghair’s actions after the shooting. Zghair 

counters that evidence from after the fact of the shooting, including flight 

evidence, is insufficient to establish his actual knowledge before and during the 

crime charged.  
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Here, it is true there is evidence that, Zghair was aware of the shooting 

after the fact. After he was stopped at the U.S./Canada border crossing with 

another person’s license, Zghair was interviewed by two Auburn Police 

Department detectives. They told him they were investigating a murder that took 

place in his car, but they did not mention a shooting. Zghair nonetheless offered 

that “I can’t use a gun. Um, I don’t know how to use guns.” In the same interview, 

Zghair referenced the victim’s apparent nationality—“if you guys talkin’ about a 

Mexican guy”—without the detectives having told him the victim’s race, ethnicity, 

or nationality. Zghair’s statements at most could lead to the inference that he had 

knowledge of the crime after it occurred. This is not sufficient to establish that 

Zghair had knowledge of a plan to shoot Ruiz Perez before the crime occurred, 

as is required to establish accomplice liability. 

Moreover, evidence that a person has knowingly aided a criminal 

enterprise after the fact is insufficient to establish accomplice liability.13 See 

Anderson, 63 Wn. App. at 261 (contrasting crime of rendering criminal 

assistance, which involves knowingly aiding a criminal enterprise after the fact). 

The State characterizes Zghair’s after-the-fact conduct instead as flight evidence, 

which “is admissible as evidence of consciousness of guilt.” State v. Slater, 197 

Wn.2d 660, 669, 486 P.3d 873 (2021).14 However, a court must not instruct the 

                                                 
13 The State claims that because no one came to Ruiz Perez’s aid and because Zghair’s 

car left the scene six minutes after arriving, with Ruiz Perez’s phone still in it, this evidence 
establishes a “getaway” from an intentional shooting, a “classic example of aiding and facilitating a 
crime.” But this after-the-fact evidence cannot establish that Zghair had the requisite knowledge of 
a plan to commit a crime before the fact.  

14 Examples of flight evidence include fleeing the scene of the crime, travelling to a different 
state, evading arrest for a significant period of time, cleaning the murder weapon, failing to contact 
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jury that flight evidence is conclusive proof of guilt. Slater, 197 Wn.2d at 668 

(citing Hickory v. United States, 160 U.S. 408, 421, 16 S. Ct. 327, 40 L. Ed. 474 

(1896) (“The statement that no one who was conscious of innocence would 

resort to concealment was substantially an instruction that all men who did so 

were necessarily guilty, thus ignoring the fundamental truth, evolved from the 

experience of mankind, that the innocent do often conceal through fear or other 

emotion.”)). Instead,  

the circumstance or inference of flight must be substantial and real. 
It may not be speculative, conjectural, or fanciful. In other words, 
the evidence or circumstances introduced and giving rise to the 
contention of flight must be substantial and sufficient to create 
a reasonable and substantive inference that the defendant’s 
departure from the scene of difficulty was an instinctive or impulsive 
reaction to a consciousness of guilt or was a deliberate effort to 
evade arrest and prosecution. Pyramiding vague inference upon 
vague inference will not supplant the absence of basic facts or 
circumstances from which the essential inference of an actual 
flight must be drawn.  
 

Slater, 197 Wn.2d at 668 (quoting State v. Bruton, 66 Wn.2d 111, 112-13, 401 

P.2d 340 (1965)). Thus, even if flight evidence is admissible to show an inference 

of consciousness of guilt, “it tends to be only marginally probative as to the 

ultimate issue of guilt or innocence.” Slater, 197 Wn.2d at 668 (quoting State v. 

Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 498, 20 P.3d 984 (2001)). 

Here, the evidence shows that, after the shooting, Zghair’s car left the 

scene of the crime with both Zghair’s phone and Ruiz Perez’s phone in it and that 

                                                 
police while claiming self-defense, and destroying clothing. Slater, 197 Wn.2d at 669-70 (collecting 
cases). Other types of flight evidence include resisting arrest, concealment, assumption of a false 
name, and related conduct if the conduct allows a reasonable inference of consciousness of guilt 
of the charged crime. State v. Freeburg, 105 Wn. App. 492, 497-98, 20 P.3d 984 (2001). 
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Ruiz Perez’s phone was never found. Zghair’s Pontiac was later doused with 

cologne, and someone tried to remove a distinctive sticker from its windshield. 

The same day police found his car, Zghair pawned his mobile phone.  Thus, as 

the State argues, there is evidence from which a juror could infer that Zghair was 

the person driving the Pontiac who “fled the crime scene immediately” and then 

took further actions to alter or remove evidence, thereby demonstrating 

consciousness of guilt.  

Also, after the shooting, Zghair tried to enter Canada the day after police 

searched his address of record, using false identification and having shaved off 

his facial hair. He was stopped at the border for using another person’s license 

and had gone to a nearby gas station while awaiting further processing, and 

when he saw border agents approaching, he ran from them. These actions by 

Zghair also could support an inference of consciousness of guilt. 

However, after-the-fact evidence of consciousness of guilt of an 

unspecified crime cannot overcome a lack of evidence of the elements of the 

charged crime. Even if flight evidence may provide an inference of 

consciousness of guilt, “[p]yramiding vague inference upon vague inference will 

not supplant the absence of basic facts or circumstances from which the 

essential inference of an actual flight must be drawn.” Slater, 197 Wn.2d at 668 

(quoting Bruton, 66 Wn.2d at 112-13). For example, leaving the scene of the 

crime could potentially suggest consciousness of a crime other than the charged 

crime, such as assisting in or engaging in the sale of drugs, or rendering criminal 

assistance, but Zghair was not charged with those crimes. Specifically, flight 
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evidence cannot substitute for evidence that Zghair acted with knowledge that he 

was promoting or facilitating the shooting. Yet two questions from the jury 

suggest that it engaged in speculation based on Zghair’s after-the-fact conduct 

and improperly relied on this evidence to determine accomplice liability.15  

First, the jury asked, “Regarding instruction #11, is an action of intent 

limited to actions leading up to the commitment of a crime? Or can aid be implied 

by actions occuring [sic] after a crime?” Instruction 11 states “A person acts with 

intent or intentionally when acting with the objective or purpose to accomplish a 

result that constitutes a crime.” Second, the jury asked about instruction 14, 

which provided information about accomplice liability:16 “Regarding instruction 

                                                 
15 Courts review questions asked by juries when considering whether a jury properly 

followed the law as instructed. State v. Davenport, 100 Wn.2d 763-64, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984) 
(question from the jury was a “contrary showing” rebutting the presumption that a jury properly 
follows a court’s instructions); State v. Whitaker, 6 Wn. App. 2d 1, 23, 429 P.3d 512 (2018) (jury 
question made it “clear from the record” that the jury considered a prosecutor’s misstatement of the 
law during closing argument). 

16 Instruction 14 stated as follows: 
 
A person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another 

person for which he or she is legally accountable. A person is legally accountable 
for the conduct of another person when he or she is an accomplice of such other 
person in the commission of the crime. 

A person is an accomplice in the commission of a crime if, with knowledge 
that it will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime, he or she either:  

(1) solicits, commands, encourages, or requests another person to commit 
the crime; or 

(2) aids or agrees to aid another person in planning or committing the 
crime. 

The word “aid” means all assistance whether given by words, acts, 
encouragement, support, or presence. A person who is present at the scene and 
ready to assist by his or her presence is aiding in the commission of the crime. 
However, more than mere presence and knowledge of the criminal activity of 
another must be shown to establish that a person present is an accomplice.  

A person who is an accomplice in the commission of a crime is guilty of 
that crime whether present at the scene or not. 
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#14, does the withholding of information to detectives constitute aiding another 

person in planning or committing a crime?”   

Both questions inquire about the same type of evidence: Zghair’s after-

the-fact conduct. But as the jury was instructed, accomplice liability is limited to 

actions that occur before or during the crime charged.17 Anderson, 63 Wn. App. 

at 261; RCW 9A.08.020. The jury’s questions point to the problem here: absent 

sufficient evidence, the jury would have to speculate that after-the-fact evidence, 

including flight evidence, could prove the crime charged. 

The State contends that “[t]hough Zghair did not directly confess to the 

crime, any rational jury could have inferred that his evasiveness and dishonesty, 

combined with his knowledge of the crime, was evidence of his guilt.” A 

reasonable juror could infer that Zghair drove his Pontiac with Ruiz Perez in it to 

the scene of the crime. There is, however, no evidence from which to infer that 

he was the person who shot Ruiz Perez. With all the inferences taken in the 

State’s favor, no rational juror could conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that a 

shotgun was inside the Pontiac, that Zghair knew a shotgun was in his car when 

he drove Ruiz Perez to the scene, or that Zghair knew of a plan to shoot Ruiz 

Perez. Nor could a rational juror conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Zghair 

had information that would lead a reasonable person in his situation to believe he 

was assisting in the planning or commission of the crime charged. 

                                                 
17 Neither party disputes the trial court’s jury instructions or its answer to the jury’s 

questions.  
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We conclude that the evidence is not sufficient to support Zghair’s 

conviction for second degree felony murder. We reverse and remand to the trial 

court to vacate Zghair’s conviction and dismiss the charge against him with 

prejudice.  

 

 

  

 

 
WE CONCUR:  
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